1948

John C. McGarry v. Jerold E. Thompson and Ed. H. Watson, State Engineer of the State of Utah : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This proceeding originated in the office of the State Engineer of Utah. The appellant, Jerold E. Thompson, filed in that office an application to change the point of

diversion and place of use of underground water applied for in application No. 16833, which application was made by one Martin C. Hintzen to appropriate four cubic feet per second from a well to be drilled on the Southeast Quarter of Section 8, Township 35 South, of Range 16 West, Salt Lake Meridian in Iron County, Utah.

The application to change the place of use was made by the appellant Jerold E. Thompson, as assignee of Martin C. Hintzen. Such application is designated as change application No. a-2017.

The respondent John C. McGarry filed an objection to the application of appellant Jerold E. Thompson upon the grounds that he, John C. McGarry, was the owner and holder of application No. 16833, as the assignee of Martin C. Hintzen.

The state engineer granted the application of Jerold E. Thompson and made its order permitting him to change the place of use to another tract of land which the wife of Jerold E. Thompson was purchasing from the state of Utah.

The respondent John C. McGarry prosecuted an appeal from the order of the State Engineer to the District Court of the Fifth Judicial District in and for Iron County, Utah. Upon pleadings filed in such District Court a trial was had and the District Court reversed the order of the State Engineer and held that John C. McGarry was the owner of the Hintzen application and that the appellant Jerold E. Thompson was not the owner of such application and therefore was not entitled to change

the point of diversion and use of the water applied for by the application No. 16833 made by Martin C. Hintzen.

Jerold E. Thompson and Ed. H. Watson, State Engineer of the State of Utah prosecute separate appeals to this court from the judgment made and entered by the District Court of Iron County. This brief is filed for and on behalf of both of the appellants.

There is no substantial conflict in the evidence which establishes the following facts:

Under date of July 21st, 1945 a Uniform Real Estate Contract was entered into (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1) which contains, among others, the following provisions:

“This agreement made in duplicate this 21st day of July, A.D. 1945 by and between John C. McGarry, his assignee or assigns of Cedar City, Utah, hereinafter designated as the seller and M. C. Hintzen, hereinafter designated as the Buyer of Los Angeles, California, Witnesseth: That the seller for the consideration herein mentioned agrees to sell and convey to the buyer and the buyer for the consideration herein mentioned agrees to purchase the following described real property situated in the County of Iron, State of Utah, to wit:

The South 100 acres of the South East Quarter (SE $\frac{1}{4}$) of Section eight (8) Township 35 South, Range 16 West, S.L.M.

It is agreed that in the event the buyer or any assignee or assignees shall make application to appropriate water or shall procure a certificate of appropriation to appropriate water from wells located upon said premises and said buyer or as-

signee or assignees shall thereafter default in this contract the seller shall immediately become the assignee of any such application or applications and the State Engineer of the State of Utah is hereby authorized to recognize said seller as the assignee of any such application and in the event a certificate of appropriation has issued to the buyer the water rights hereunder shall be considered as appurtenant to the said premises and in the event of default the title thereto shall immediately pass to the seller."

So far as appears that contract was never recorded. Mr. Hintzen paid the full purchase price of the property as provided for in the contract. (Tr. 8) Mr. McGarry never gave a deed to Hintzen to the property. At the time that the above mentioned contract was entered into Hintzen filed the water right application which forms the subject matter of this controversy but so far as appears nothing was done by Hintzen to dig a well pursuant to the application. The application to appropriate water so filed by Martin C. Hintzen was never, so far as the record shows, approved by the State Engineer, (Plaintiff's Exhibit 5) except by the approval of the exchange application filed by appellant.

In the latter part of February, 1946 McGarry exchanged 80 acres of the 100 acres of land described in the Uniform Sales Contract above mentioned for another 80 acres of land and at the same time received from Hintzen a purported assignment of the application involved in this controversy. (Tr. 10). The assignment however was not recorded nor filed in the office of the State

Engineer. (Tr. 4) (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2.) The assignment was, however, filed for record in the office of the County Recorder of Iron County, Utah on November 2, 1946. Mr. Hintzen remained on the property described in the Uniform Sales Contract until May or June, 1946. (Tr. 8) The Uniform Sales Contract between McGarry and Hintzen was merely handed back to McGarry and McGarry gave Hintzen a deed to another 80 acres of land. (Tr. 10)

During the first part of April, 1946 the appellant, Jerold E. Thompson, entered into an agreement with Martin C. Hintzen whereby Martin C. Hintzen agreed to assign to Thompson the application to appropriate water here involved and Thompson agreed to remove the brush from 80 acres of land for Hintzen. Pursuant to such contract Thompson during the first part of April, 1946 did remove the brush as agreed. (Tr. 11) The reasonable value of such labor was \$10.00 per acre. (Tr. 13 and Tr. 30) In consideration for the labor in clearing the brush from the 80 acres of land Mr. Hintzen assigned to appellant Thompson the application to appropriate water which is involved in this controversy. (Tr. 11 and 12) (and defendants Exhibit "A")

Prior to the time appellant Thompson entered into the agreement with Hintzen he, Thompson, went to the office of the State Engineer of Utah for the purpose of ascertaining how he might acquire a water right. He had recently come to Utah from California and was not familiar with the laws touching the procedure necessary

to be followed to secure a right to drill wells for the purpose of developing water for irrigation purposes. He secured from the office of the State Engineer the names of a number of people who might be the holders of a water right application that could be purchased. Among the names of the persons which was given to Mr. Thompson was that of Mr. Hintzen (Tr. 12). The appellant, Thompson, contacted Mr. Hintzen and entered into the agreement with him to remove the brush from the eight acres of land for the water right application here brought in question. Under date of April 6, 1946 Martin C. Hintzen and his wife, Margarite C. Hintzen, assigned application 16833 to appellant Jerold E. Thompson and on April 16, 1946 the assignment was filed in the office of the State Engineer. (Defendants' Exhibit "A"). The State Engineer granted the change application on March 3, 1947, which approval required that work must be commenced within six months after the approval date and diligently prosecuted to completion. (Defendants' Exhibit "C") So far as appears the assignment of the water right application to the respondent John C. McGarry, nor a copy thereof, has never been filed in the Office of the State Engineer of Utah.

Soon after the State Engineer approved the exchange application appellant Thompson caused a well to be drilled on the land which his wife was purchasing from the State of Utah and the well was finished on the last of May, 1947. (Tr. 15) Mr. Thompson expended \$1975.00 in having the well drilled. (Tr. 16) Mr. Thompson did not know of any claim of Mr. McGarry to the water filing

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

In checking the final draft of the brief as it was returned from the printer it is noted that the Assignments of Error made by the State Engineer have been omitted. This Addendum is added to constitute the Assignments of Error by the State Engineer.

The State Engineer assigns the following as error upon which he relies for the reversal of the judgment on appeal. Said Assignments of Error are made separately and independently of those assigned by appellant Jerold E. Thompson.

(1) The court erred in holding that Sec. 100-3-18 does not require the recordation of the assignment of a water right in the office of the State Engineer and in holding that the failure to so record has no legal effect.

(2) The State Engineer adopts the Assignments of Error and each of them made by the appellant Jerold E. Thompson.

in dispute until he received a notice of the protest which was on December 20, 21 or 22nd, 1946. (Tr. 17)

At the time Mr. Hintzen agreed to make and when he did make the assignment to Thompson of the application to appropriate water Hintzen stated that he still owned the filing, that he paid for and that he still owned a portion of the ground where the original application designated the well should be drilled. (Tr. 17) Mr. Hintzen told appellant Thompson that he, Hintzen, had turned back to McGarry eighty acres of the land which he had purchased from respondent McGarry but that he Hintzen retained 20 acres of the land which he had originally purchased from McGarry. Hintzen further informed appellant Thompson that he Hintzen was going to have his father and mother come over here from Germany and that they were going to live on the twenty acres retained by Hintzen. (Tr. 19) Mr. Thompson further testified that he was not familiar with the amount of water necessary to irrigate land. (Tr. 20)

The foregoing is in substance the evidence upon which the trial court found the issues raised by the pleadings in favor of the respondent and against the appellant.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The appellant Jerold E. Thompson assigns the following as errors upon which he relies for a reversal of the judgment appealed from and for a mandate of this court directing the trial court to enter a judgment in favor of the appellant Jerold E. Thompson awarding

to him all water rights that he might acquire under exchange application a-2017.

1. The trial court erred in making the parts of its findings numbered 4 to 5 wherein it is in effect found that the plaintiff is the owner of application numbered 16833 to appropriate 4 cubic feet per second of water. That such findings are without support in the evidence and are contrary to the evidence in that at the time Martin C. Hintzen executed the purported assignment of such water right application the same had not been approved by the State Engineer and the said Martin C. Hintzen had no assignable interest in such application. (pages 2 and 3 of complaint. R. 33-34.

2. The trial court erred in making that part of its finding numbered 13 wherein it is found: "that the said Thompson knew that the well referred to in Hintzen's water application was, by the terms of said application, to be drilled upon the lands covered by Hintzen's contract with McGarry and that water developed therefrom was to be used for the irrigation of said land." That such finding is without support in the evidence and is contrary to the preponderance thereof. (Complaint page 4, R. 35)

3. The trial court erred in making that part of finding numbered 13 wherein it is found that: "Said Thompson knew or should have known that an application to appropriate four second feet of water would not be granted for the irrigation of twenty acres of ground." That said finding is without any support in the evidence. (Complaint page 4, R. 35)

4. The trial court erred in making that part of finding numbered 13 wherein it is found that: "Said Thompson could easily have made inquiry from McGarry concerning the status of the Hintzen application and could have learned easily that such application had been previously assigned by Hintzen to McGarry" for the reason that such finding is immaterial. (Complaint pages 4-5, R. 35-36)

5. The trial court erred in making its so-called finding of fact number 14 and the whole thereof for the reason that the same is without support in the evidence, that the same is contrary to the evidence and the preponderance thereof. (Complaint page 5, R. 36)

6. The trial court erred in making its conclusion of law numbered 1 and the whole thereof. That such conclusion of law is without support in the findings of fact and is without support in the evidence. (R. 36)

7. The trial court erred in making its conclusion of law numbered 2 in that such conclusion of law is without support in the findings of fact and is without support in the evidence. (R. 36)

8. The trial court erred in making its conclusion of law numbered 3 in that such conclusion of law is not supported by either the findings of fact or the evidence. (R. 36)

9. The trial court erred in making its conclusion of law numbered 4 in that such conclusion of law is without support in the evidence and is contrary to the law applicable to the facts as shown by the evidence. (R. 36)

10. The trial court erred in making its conclusion of law numbered 5 in that such conclusion of law is not supported by the findings of fact and is contrary to the law applicable to the facts as shown by the evidence. (R. 36)

11. The trial court erred in making its conclusion of law numbered 6 in that such conclusion of law is without support in the findings of fact and is contrary to the law applicable to the facts shown by the evidence. (R. 36.)

12. The trial court erred in making its conclusion of law numbered 7 in that such conclusion of law is without support in the findings of fact and is contrary to the law applicable to the facts disclosed by the evidence. (R. 37)

13. The trial court erred in making paragraph 1 of its decree in that said portion of the decree is without support either in the evidence or the findings of fact. (R. 38)

14. The trial court erred in making its paragraph 2 of its decree in that said portion of its decree is without support in either the evidence or the findings of fact and is contrary to law. (R. 39)

15. The trial court erred in making paragraph 3 of its decree in that such paragraph is without support in either the evidence or the findings of fact and is contrary to law. (R. 39)

16. The trial court erred in making paragraph 4 of its decree in that said part of the decree is without sup-

port in either the evidence or the findings of fact. (R. 39)

17. The trial court erred in failing to affirm the order made by the State Engineer of Utah wherein and whereby the State Engineer approved the exchange application of the appellant Jerold E. Thompson.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

While the appellant Thompson has made 17 assignments of error the questions presented for review may be reduced to three, namely :

1. May one who has merely made and filed in the office of the State Engineer an application assign such application to another and thereby transfer to such assignee a vested interest in such application prior to the approval of such application by the State Engineer?

2. Does the evidence in this case support the finding and conclusion of the trial court to the effect that the appellant Jerold E. Thompson was not a bona fide purchaser for value of the application to appropriate water which was filed by Martin C. Hintzen.

3. May an assignee of an application to appropriate water defeat the right of a subsequent assignee of such application where the first assignee fails and neglects to place his assignment of record in the office of the State Engineer prior to the time the subsequent assignee has secured his assignment and placed the same of record in such office, especially where the first assignee has

participated in the plan to have the application placed in the name of the applicant?

We shall discuss the first two questions above suggested and adopt the discussion made by the State Engineer touching the third question. If this court should conclude that the purported assignment of the application to appropriate water by Hintzen to McGarry is and was a nullity it will probably not be necessary to consider the other two suggested questions.

I

THE PURPORTED ASSIGNMENT OF THE HINTZEN APPLICATION TO APPROPRIATE WATER TO MCGARRY WAS AND IS A NULLITY.

While we have been unable to find an adjudicated case dealing with the question of whether or not an unapproved application to appropriate water may be assigned it is a well established rule of common law that the mere possibility or probability that a right may come into existence at some future time is not assignable. The law in such particular is thus expressed in 4 Am. Jur. Sec. 4, page 232:

“A mere possibility or expectancy not coupled with an interest cannot, at common law, be made the subject of a valid assignment or transfer. It is the general rule of law, in the absence of any statutory modification, that in order that a right or interest can be assigned, it must have at the time of the assignment either an actual or a po-

tential existence. A distinction is made between what was termed a mere possibility and a "possibility coupled with an interest'."

Numerous cases will be found collected in a foot note to the text which under various circumstances support the general rule. We shall not burden the court with an analysis of those cases because none of them are directly in point, but the principles of law therein announced lend some support to the view that the unapproved application of Hintzen was not assignable because he had no vested interest to assign. Moreover to permit such an assignment would offend against the provision of our statutory law relating to the appropriation of water.

"It shall be the duty of the state engineer, upon the payment of the approval fee, to approve an application if: (1) There is unappropriated water in the proposed source; (2) The proposed use will not impair existing rights, or interfere with the more beneficial use of the water; (3) The proposed plan is physically and economically feasible unless the application is filed by the United States bureau of reclamation and would not prove detrimental to the public welfare; and (4) The applicant has the financial ability to complete the proposed works and the application was filed in good faith and not for the purposes of speculation or monopoly; *provided*, that where the state engineer, because of information in his possession obtained either by his own investigation or otherwise, has reason to believe that an application to appropriate water will interfere with its more beneficial use for irrigation, domestic or culinary, stock watering, power or min-

ing development or manufacturing, or will prove detrimental to the public welfare, it shall be his duty to withhold his approval or rejection of the application until he shall have investigated the matter. The cost of such inquiry shall be paid by the person making the application, as provided by Section 100-2-14, if such application is approved. If an application does not meet the requirements of this section, it shall be rejected.” U.C.A. 1943, 100-3-8.

It will be observed from the provisions of the statute just quoted that before an application to appropriate water may properly be approved by the State Engineer it becomes his duty to make the investigation provided for in the portion of the section of the statute just quoted. If the statute has not been complied with the application may not be approved.

In the absence of a showing to the contrary it must be assumed that the State Engineer did his duty in such particular and refused to approve the application unless and until it was amended so that the water applied for might be put to a beneficial use as by statute provided. A few illustrations might be suggested to illustrate what we mean. If the State Engineer did what the statute required he might well have determined that there was no unappropriated water for use on the 100 acres covered by the contract between McGarry and Hintzen. It is a matter of common knowledge that even though there may be underground water available from a common source to irrigate say 1000 acres of land if an attempt is made to pump all of the available water from, at or

near one point it may well be that the water from distant points could not be made available. In this connection it will be observed that the proposed place of use provided for in Hintzen's filing was that the South East Quarter of Section 8, Township 35 South, Range 16 West, while the place where Thompson proposes to use the water is the South West Quarter of Section 14, Township 35, South, Range 17 West. (Trs. Plaintiff's Exhibit "B") Thus the two tracts are separated by a very substantial distance. It may be that the State Engineer in the performance of his duty concluded that there was no unappropriated water available on the Hintzen's property but there was unappropriated water available on the property purchased by Iola M. Thompson, the wife of appellant Jerold E. Thompson. If that were so it was the duty of the State Engineer to withhold approval of the application until such time as the application was amended to change the point of diversion to a place where water was available.

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