1948

John C. McGarry v. Jerold E. Thompson and Ed. H. Watson, State Engineer of the State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

We shall now address ourselves to the first proposition argued by the appellants, wherein it is contended that an unapproved application to appropriate water is not assignable.

The proposition advanced by the appellants is fallacious and should not now be considered for the many following reasons:

1. It is raised for the first time on this appeal. It was neither pleaded, tried, argued, submitted or determined by the trial court on that issue, nor was the trial court given an opportunity to pass upon that contention.

It is elementary that a case will not be reviewed on a theory different than that upon which it was tried and determined by the trial court.

Furthermore, if the appellants intended to rely on the defense that the Hintzen application was unapproved and therefore not assignable, McGarry should have been given an opportunity to meet that issue at the trial. The appellants state that the Hintzen application was not approved, but the record does not so show.

In the early case of *Aaron vs. Holmes*, 99 Pac. 450, 35 Utah 49, it was said:

“It is also a well settled rule that a theory, assumed and acted upon by the parties litigant in the trial court, must be adhered to upon appeal. One of the most important results of the rule that questions which are not raised in the court below cannot be reviewed in the appellate court is that a party cannot, when a cause is brought up for appellate review, assume an attitude inconsistent with that taken by him at the trial, and that such party is restricted to the

theory of the cause of action.”

“Suit to quiet title to water arising from spring on plaintiff’s land having been tried on theory that water was originally public water subject to appropriation, Supreme Court cannot dispose of cause on a different theory.” Holman, et al. vs. Christensen, 274 Pac. 457, 73 Utah 389.

2. If the application from Hintzen to McGarry, even assuming it was unapproved, was therefore not assignable, how does Thompson gain his rights thereunder? Can Thompson acquire more rights under an assignment than can McGarry?

It is argued by appellants that McGarry could acquire no rights under an unapproved application, yet Thompson, according to appellants, could acquire rights under the identical application, and the state engineer can approve a change application based on such identical application and can give Thompson permission to drill a well under the change application filed thereafter and thereunder. According to appellants’ argument and contention, an assignment is good as to one person but not as to another; the application of Hintzen is sufficient for the purpose of assigning to Thompson but not for the purpose of assigning to McGarry.

This Court must assume the approval of the Hintzen application from the very fact that he disallowed the McGarry protest and approved Thompson’s change applica-

tion and granted him permission to drill a well, all without any hearing whatever and most perfunctorily.

3. The state engineer never considered the provisions of Section 100-3-8, U.C.A. 1943, when holding the Thompson application took precedence over the McGarry application, nor are the provisions of that section applicable, either under the issues or otherwise. We fail to see how that section has any application.

Neither appellant pleaded that the state engineer had concluded there was no unappropriated water available on the Hintzen property, that the Hintzen land was unfit for irrigation, that Hintzen or McGarry had no financial ability to complete the proposed well, or even that McGarry had secured the assignment for purely speculative purposes. The appellants could have pleaded such facts and raised that issue, but did not do so.

Moreover, we call attention that the respondent alleged and the appellants admitted that the state engineer allowed the change application and disallowed the McGarry protest without a formal or any hearing.

The conclusion is inescapable that when the state engineer disallowed McGarry's protest and approved Thompson's change application without any hearing it was solely on the basis of Section 100-3-18, U.C.A., 1943, interpreting it to mean that as a matter of law Thomp-

son had a legal priority because Thompson had filed his assignment before McGarry filed his, and even then the state engineer disregarded McGarry's right to prove Thompson was not a purchaser for value without notice. The fact is that the disallowance of the McGarry protest and the approval of the change application without a hearing was rather capricious and arbitrary. However, we would be loathe to believe that the state engineer would, without giving McGarry an opportunity to be heard or to know from what sources he gained the information, find that McGarry did not have the financial ability to complete the well, that his acquisition of the assignment of the application was not in good faith but for speculation or monopoly (he already owned the land upon which the well was to be drilled) or that any of the reasons set forth in said Section 100-3-18 were persuasive to his ruling. We are more loathe to believe that if such reasons existed and such facts believed to be true, the state engineer would withhold them from the trial court and not even plead or attempt to prove them. But—the state engineer does not say such facts and reasons exist; he only says "it may be" so.

He fails to take any position whatever; he does not say any such facts or reasons exist, but wants this court to determine this case for the reason that "it may be" so. He does not even say any investigation was made or that he had the slightest inkling as to any of the facts.

4. An application to appropriate water, at least until it is disapproved, and while it is pending in the office of the state engineer without either approval or disapproval, is a valuable property right and is more than “a mere possibility or expectancy *not coupled with an interest.*”

There can be no question but what an application to appropriate water, when filed in the office of the state engineer, is a valuable property right. Section 100-3-18 which provides that “rights claimed under applications for the appropriation of water may be transferred or assigned by instruments in writing” makes no distinction between approved and unapproved applications. It has never been contended before, to our knowledge, that an application to appropriate water may not be assigned until after its approval. The state engineer will make no such contention because he has accepted and recognized assignments of applications prior to approval upon innumerable occasions. To so hold would be to be read into the statute something which is not there.

In the case of *Whitmore vs. Murray City*, 154 Pac. (2nd) 748, (107 Utah 445), at page 751, it is said:

“Property rights in water consist not alone in the amount of the appropriation, but also in the priority of the appropriation. It often happens that the chief value of an appropriation consists in its priority over other appropriations from the same natural stream.

Hence, to deprive a person of his priority is to deprive him of a most valuable property right."

The case of Duchesne County vs. Humphreys, 148 Pac. (2nd) 338, 106 Utah 332, discusses an application to appropriate unappropriated water as a "right." It is said: "The first step in acquiring such a right is the filing of an application with the state engineer. The filing of the application does not give the applicant a vested right * * * it merely gives a right to complete the appropriation and put the water to a beneficial use in compliance of the act." And certainly this Court, in speaking of the first step in acquiring a "right" by the filing of an application with the state engineer, had in mind the fact that the application could not be approved until after it was made and filed.

"The first step toward making an appropriation * * * may be protected through a suit to quiet title." Mohave River Irr. Dist. vs. Superior Court, 256 Pac. 469 at page 472 (Cal).

"One may protect his 'incipient right' to water against hostile invasions and claims of others. And the same doctrine is announced in the later case of Merritt vs. City of Los Angeles, 120 Pac. 1064. So here the plaintiffs may safeguard their rights, although water has as yet been brought into close proximity to their lands." Byington vs. Sacramento Valley West Side Canal Co., 148 Pac. 791 at page 794 (Cal).

To the same effect are the cases:

Inyo Consolidated Water Co. vs. Jess, et al., 119 Pac. 934.

Merritt vs. City of Los Angeles, 120 Pac. 1064.

II.

Addressing ourselves to the second proposition advanced by appellants to the effect that Thompson was a bona fide purchaser for value of the Hintzen application, we assert that the court found, as a factual matter, that Thompson was not a purchaser in good faith and without notice, and that such finding is amply supported by the evidence.

On cross-examination Thompson testified substantially to the following:

He came into the country (Iron County) in November, 1945; that he intended to engage in farming in that vicinity (Tr. 24); that he and a Mr. Frailey purchased 960 acres of ground and was advised and assured by McGarry that one well of 4.0 second feet would be sufficient to irrigate 160 acres and that he and Frailey applied for wells of 4.0 second feet each to irrigate each 160 acres. When Hintzen was discussing with Thompson the deal whereby the application would be assigned, Thompson knew that Hintzen had turned back to McGarry 80 of the 100 acres acquired from McGarry and which land was to

be irrigated from the Hintzen well. On March 19th, 1946, Thompson was in the office of the state engineer making inquiry in regards to transferring well permits and whether he could get permission so to do. He examined the book of well permits and checked wells that had not been drilled. (Having made this check he knew, of course, that the Hintzen well had been applied for to irrigate the 100 acres which Hintzen had purchased from McGarry and described as being in the SE1/4 of Sec. 8, Tp. 35 S., R. 16 W., S.L.M.). He returned from Salt Lake and on the following day he had a conversation with McGarry at Cedar City. He made no mention to McGarry of his proposed deal with Hintzen although he had previously gotten the name of Hintzen, as having a well right, from the records of the state engineer. He made no inquiry from McGarry as to whether McGarry had taken back the water rights with the land, although he knew McGarry, and had done business with him and could easily have discussed the matter. Hintzen had given up possession of the acreage which he turned back to McGarry, had moved his house from the McGarry tract to a new tract which had a water right attached thereto, all of which was known to Thompson. The work which Thompson claims to have done was on the new tract and no work was done by Hintzen on the McGarry tract. Thompson knew the Hintzen application was for 4.0 second feet to irrigate 100 acres but testified he knew nothing about the duty of water and had no

idea that 4.0 second feet would be more than sufficient to irrigate the twenty acres which Hintzen had not turned back to McGarry. Thompson testified also that he knew nothing about the duty of water and whether the duty of water was 4.0 second feet for 160 acres or for 40 acres. He testified also that he never questioned Hintzen as to whether Hintzen had turned the application back to McGarry with the land and never questioned the ownership of the well permit, because he never went into anyone's personal business, (Rep. Tr. 22-23).

McGarry testified (Rep. Tr. 37-38) in the fall of 1945, months before Thompson made his deal with Hintzen and prior to the purchase of land by Thompson and Frailey there were discussions about the duty of water and Thompson was advised one second foot was sufficient to irrigate 40 acres and that a well right for 4.0 second feet would irrigate 160 acres; that Thompson made application to the state engineer for well permits to irrigate the 960 acres and made his application on the basis of 4.0 second feet for each 160 acres.

The trial court evidently did not give credence to Thompson's testimony concerning his total and supreme ignorance about water rights and the duty of water and his reasons for not making further inquiry.

Were all of the foregoing facts sufficient to put Thompson on notice that Hintzen might have disposed of

the water to McGarry when turning back the land for which the water had been applied, and thus put Thompson on inquiry? The trial court believed that when the land was turned back to McGarry and Thompson was so advised by Hintzen before the assignment was given to Thompson, and when Thompson knew that the Hintzen application was made to irrigate the premises which had been turned back, and when he knew that even though Hintzen retained 20 of the 100 acres he could not retain and hope to secure a certificate of appropriation of 4.0 second feet to irrigate 20 acres of land, it was sufficient to put Thompson on notice and inquiry. After all, Thompson knew McGarry—knew where McGarry was located and could be contacted; he had had dealings and conversations with McGarry and could easily have ascertained the true situation by a simple inquiry from McGarry—particularly after knowing that Hintzen had acquired from McGarry a new tract of land with an attached and appurtenant water right in exchange for the old tract for which water had been applied. Thompson was a farmer and realized the value of water to land and knew that land in the vicinity in question could not be of much value without water. Thompson undoubtedly from his discussions with McGarry, his application to the state engineer for well rights on the 960 acres being purchased, and his visit to the office of the state engineer, knew, or suspected, or should have known and suspected that the

Hintzen land would not be turned back without the well permit for the irrigation thereof, and he could have ascertained the fact by a simple inquiry. We cannot see how the trial court could have done otherwise than find that Thompson was not a purchaser in good faith and without notice.

The broad rule is laid down in the late case of *Meagher vs. Dean, et al.*, 91 Pac. (2nd) 454, 97 Utah 173, as follows:

“Whatever is notice enough to excite attention and put the purchaser on his guard and call for inquiry is notice of everything to which such inquiry might have led.”

See *O'Reilly vs. McLean, et al.*, 37 Pac. (2nd) 770, 84 Utah 551, wherein it is held “where purchaser had such information as will put ordinarily prudent person on inquiry, purchaser must make such inquiry and is charged with notice which could have been obtained from such inquiry.”

“One who has constructive notice of an outstanding title or right is not a bona fide purchaser. It has been held that constructive notice rests upon strictly legal presumptions which are not allowed to be controverted, while implied notice arises from an inference of facts and is a form of actual notice. Regardless, however, of the technical distinction made by some courts between constructive notice and implied actual notice, it is a general rule that knowledge of such facts as ought to put a prudent man on inquiry

as to the title charges a subsequent purchaser with notice, not only of those facts which are actually known, but also of all the other facts which a reasonably diligent investigation would have ascertained, provided the inquiry becomes a duty and would lead to the knowledge of the requisite facts by the exercise of ordinary diligence and understanding. * * * * In applying the rule each case must be governed by its own peculiar circumstances." 66 C.J. page 1111.

"A purchaser who is put on inquiry does not discharge his duty by making inquiry of his vendor alone but must exhaust all reasonable and available sources of information and hence the fact that the purchaser is misled by the vendor's false statements is not sufficient to protect him." 66 C.J. page 1115.

"If purchasers of realty from corporation holding record title were put on notice regarding corporation's actual status as second mortgagee and did not make reasonable inquiry, purchasers were charged with knowledge of all facts that they might have learned had such diligence been exercised, as regards mortgagor's interest in such realty." Murray vs. Wiley, 127 Pac. (2nd) 112. (Wyo).

The question as to whether Thompson was an innocent purchaser for value without notice, was one of fact for the trial court.

"Where it does not appear by a clear preponderance of the evidence that the trial judge was wrong in his findings of fact, they must stand." Hoggan vs. Price River Irr. Co., 216 Pac. 237, 61 Utah 547, citing numerous Utah cases.

To the same effect see:

Froyd vs. Barnhurst, 28 Pac. (2nd) 135, 83 Utah 271.

Mollerup vs. Daynes-Beebe Music Co., 24 Pac. (2nd) 306, 82 Utah 299.

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